
 

NOTE TO PERSONS WITH SPECIAL NEEDS: 
The Town of Canton does not discriminate on the basis of disability. Individuals who need auxiliary aids or an interpreter at a Town 

meeting must notify the appropriate department in advance of the meeting as soon as they are able. 

   
 
 
 

AGENDA 
Regular Meeting  

 Canton Planning and Zoning Commission 
Wednesday, September 21, 2016 at 7:30 pm 

Community Center, Room F 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT 

 
CALL TO ORDER: 
ROLL CALL: 
 
OLD BUSINESS:  
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
1. Pre-Application Review; File #405; Apln #1629; 361 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcel 

1010361; Zone B; discussion of development concepts for multi-family rental apartments; Arthur 
Godbout, applicant; Canton Commercial Properties, LLC, owner 

 
OTHER BUSINESS:  
 
1. Review minutes from the July 20, 2016 Regular Meeting and August 17, 2016 Special Meeting 

2. Discussion of Possible Edits to Zoning Regulations 

a. Review of draft language pertaining to Electronic Message Board Signs 

b. Review of edits to Design Review  

c. Review of edits to Mixed Residential Accessory Uses 

d. Review of edits to Design District; Section 5.1.C;  Additional Documentation/Submission Criteria 

3. Discussion of Design Regulations 

4. Discussion of Subdivision Regulations Rewrite 

a. Distribution of draft for Commission review 

b. Policy for processing lot line revisions pertaining to conforming parcels 

5. Discussion of possible update to the Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures 

6. Discussion of possible minor modifications to the existing Collinsville Streetscape in the areas of 74 
Main Street and 37 Bridge Street, as it pertains to the CHDC 

7. Discussion of lighting at the Canton High School track 

8. Discussion of potential Vice Chairman, and possible nominations and vote 

9. Discussion of Streetscape Grant  

10. Discussion of process for updating the 2014 Plan of Conservation and Development 

11. Staff Reports: 

a. Town Planner’s Report 

b. ZEO Report 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 





PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

DATE SEPTEMBER 6, 2016

DRAWING NO.

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

COVER

Planning Board Presentation

361 Route 44



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

LOCATION MAP

DATE

DRAWING NO.

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

SCALE

LOCATION MAP

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016

1



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

DATE

DRAWING NO.

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

• The need for quality, new rental housing in the Town of Canton has never been more pronounced, particularly for 20-34 and 60+ cohorts; the tax benefits 
from this development would far exceed current revenue generated by the property

• The  concept plan is in concert with Canton’s Plan for Conservation & Development:

 Promote housing choice and economic diversity of housing (p. 2)

 Identified Needs:  Rental Housing, particularly for 20 to 34 year olds (p. 4)

 Affordable housing  demand will grow as people live longer on limited incomes & younger people pay off educational debt (p. 5)

 Within the Plan, the term “opportunity locations” is used to identify:

• Sites of significant economic potential; or,

• Sites where there is an expectation of a meaningful / tax positive contribution to the tax base

• Sites where there are known development interests

 361 Albany Turnpike is specifically identified as an Opportunity Location (p. 39)

 Adequate and diverse housing choices are important to the future of Canton (p. 51)

 Flexibility to customize each project by joining the preferences of the developer,  town and capabilities of the land, (p. 54)

 Current housing stock is not expected to accommodate the income constraints of older residents (p. 58)

 Distances of residences to services is an issue for less mobile residents seeking to stay engaged and active in the community, (p. 58)

 Seek to address recognized needs for more affordable and housing for an aging population, (p. 105)

• POCD Implementation Plan Recommendations:

 Land use regulations and agency actions that promote a variety of neighborhoods and housing to accommodate households of diverse sizes and 
economic status, (pg. 4)

 Expand public water and sewer to stimulate investment within business areas, (p. 18)

 Revise zoning regulations to create one or more zones that allow for apartment/condominium development, (p. 29)

 Maintain a strong, diverse housing balance, increasing  more moderately price housing options, (p. 29)

 Identify and explore regulations for higher density housing areas suitable for mixed-income, (p. 29)

 Allow multi-family residential structures as of right in mixed-use zones, (p. 30)

 Encourage residential development that promotes a sense of neighborhood and community, (p. 30)

MASTER PLAN RECOMMENDATIONS

2

MASTER PLAN 
RECOMMENDATIONS

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016



DRAWING NO.

Assessor’s Lot 1010361
361 Albany Turnpike

317,325 Sq. Ft. or 7.3 Acres

SITE PLAN

1
0

 f
t 

Si
d

e 
Ya

rd
 S

et
b

ac
k

• A thoughtful neighborhood of multi-family rental apartments

• 144 total market rate units or 20 units per acre; 4, four-story buildings

• 185 parking spaces including 64 garage spaces

• Conformance with BFS Town Frontage Design Sub-district

3



DRAWING NO.

1
0

 f
t 

Si
d

e 
Ya

rd
 S

et
b

ac
k

4

SITE PLAN • A thoughtful neighborhood of multi-family rental apartments

• 144 total market rate units or 20 units per acre; 4, four-story buildings

• 185 parking spaces including 64 garage spaces

• Conformance with BFS Town Frontage Design Sub-district



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

DATE

DRAWING NO.

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

SCALE

REPRESENTATIVE ARCHITECTURE

REPRESENTATIVE
ARCHITECTURE

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016

5



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

DATE

DRAWING NO.

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

 From the property (miles):
• 0.2 Farmington River
• 0.6 Collinsville Savings Bank
• 0.7 Mills Pond Park
• 0.8 Canton Express Park & Ride
• 0.9 Canton Public Library
• 0.9 Canton Senior Center
• 1.0 US Post Office
• 1.1 Canton Valley Dental
• 1.3 Canton Volunteer FD/EMS
• 1.3 Canton High/Middle Schools
• 1.7 Canton Fire/EMS Station
• 1.7 Canton Police Department
• 1.8 Route 44 CVS
• 1.8 Shoppes at Farmington Valley
• 1.9 Lifetime Family Dentistry
• 2.0 Downtown Collinsville
• 2.0 Canton Town Hall
• 2.8 Simsbury Commons
• 3.1 St. Francis Fast Care

LOCAL PROXIMITY

1, 3, 5 mi. radii

LOCAL PROXIMITY

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016

6



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

DATE

DRAWING NO.

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

7

 From the property (miles):
• 6 Ski Sundown
• 11  UCONN Medical Center
• 12 Torrington
• 12 West Hartford Center
• 12 I-84 Access
• 13 Charlotte Hungerford Hosp.
• 14 Downtown Hartford

5, 10, 15 mi. Radii

REGIONAL PROXIMITY

REGIONAL PROXIMITY

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016



PROJECT NAME

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

DATE

DRAWING NO.

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

Population 1-mi. 3-mi. 5-mi.

2015 Total Population: Adult 4,158 14,330 33,533

2015 Total Daytime Population 7,647 22,413 48,591

2015 Total Employees 4,627 11,668 24,286

Population Change 1-mi. 3-mi. 5-mi.

% Population Change 2000 to 2015 17.4% 19.6% 12.1%

% Household Change 2000 to 2015 20.8% 20.7% 14.7%

Housing 1-mi. 3-mi. 5-mi.

% 2015 Occupied Housing Units 96.7% 97.0% 96.9%

% 2015 Owner occupied housing units 75.3% 85.0% 86.5%

Income 1-mi. 3-mi. 5-mi.

2015 Household Income: Median $89,712 $98,283 $103,587 

2015 Household Income: Average $125,403 $138,467 $142,302 

2015 Per Capita Income $55,451 $53,937 $55,841 

% 2015 Household income > $100,000 42.8% 49.0% 51.6%

361  ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016

8

DEMOGRAPHICS

1-, 3-, 5-MILE RADII DEMOGRAPHICS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

CHARACTER & NATURAL 
RESOURCES

DATE

DRAWING NO.

9

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

SCALE

CHARACTER & NATURAL RESOURCES

“No impact on Character or Designated Natural Resources”

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

WATERSHED & STORM DRAINAGE

DATE

DRAWING NO.

10

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

SCALE

CHERRY BROOK WATERSHED IN CANTON & EXISTING PROXIMATE TO SITE CATCH BASINS

“No impact on 

Community Watershed”

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

HISTORIC RESOURCES

DATE

DRAWING NO.

11

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

SCALE

HISTORIC DISTRICTS

“No impact on Historic Districts”

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

HISTORIC RESOURCES

DATE

DRAWING NO.

12

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

SCALE

PROXIMATE HISTORIC RESOURCES

Dyer Cemetery, Dyer Cemetery Road
This is the oldest cemetery in Canton and was originally known as “Old South Burying 
Ground,” a gift from Joseph Wilcox, of West Simsbury. The first burial (Trephine Barber) 
was in 1752. Eighteen soldiers were buried here in 1777. The British General John 
Burgoyne, after his surrender at Saratoga, camped on the meadows near the Farmington 
River, where these soldiers were buried. By 1829 these skeletons were uncovered. In 1810, 
Daniel Dyer bought the property and it became Dyer Cemetery. 

Dyer Farm, 1 Dyer Cemetery Road
This house was built by Samuel Wilcox in 1789 on a farm of six hundred acres. Over the 
years it had a sawmill; “silver mine” that produced small quantities of zinc, lead, copper 
and beryl; tannery; dairy operation; and cider mill. It was also a stage coach hotel that 
could accommodate twenty guests and forty horses. For most of the twentieth century, 
Margaret Dyer had a roadside business selling her famous salted nuts, fudge and 
homemade handkerchiefs.

Brookmeade/ Mills Homestead, 90 Simonds Avenue
Built by Benjamin Dyer for his son Thomas in 1756, the most famous resident of the house 
was William Edgar Simonds (1842-1903) who married Sarah Jane Mills, a descendant of 
Dyer. Simonds was a prominent patent attorney who was awarded the Congressional 
Medal of Honor for his heroics at the Civil War battle of Irish Bend, Louisiana. He is the only 
person from Canton ever awarded the medal or to be speaker of the Connecticut House of 
Representatives or to be elected to Congress.

Ralph Dowd house, 3 Dowd Avenue
Built in 1747 by Benjamin Dyer, who worked as a tallow candler, he is said to have been a 
schoolmate of Benjamin Franklin. The house facade features four ionic pilasters. It was 
moved back from a dangerous curve in the road in the 1930s.

Decius Humphrey House, 44 Old Canton Road
This house was built by Col. Decius Humphrey (1789-1878) who was a Justice of the Peace 
and served in the War of 1812. Over six feet tall and known for his prodigious memory, he 
was Master of the Village Lodge of Masons from 1822 to 1824. He was also among the first 
in the nation to raise merino sheep and experimented with growing silkworms.

Phoebe Humphrey house site, 277 Albany Turnpike
Where the Collinsville Savings Society is located once stood a simple, center chimney 
saltbox built in 1759. Born in 1763, Phoebe Humphrey was home alone at age 16 when 
she drove off two Hessian soldiers with a hot fireplace poker after they surprised her and 
demanded the bread she was baking. The local DAR chapter is named after her.  The 
house was destroyed by vandals before 1929 when Howard Bristol acquired it. A 
brownstone post with a plaque on the bank’s east side memorializes Phoebe Humphrey.

“No impact on Historic Resources”
SEPTEMBER 6, 2016



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

COMMUNITY RESOURCES

DATE

DRAWING NO.

13

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

SCALE

COMMUNITY FACILITIES & UTILITY SERVICES

“The site will benefit from connection to municipal sewer, water and 

natural gas utilities proximate to property”

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

FUTURE LAND USE PLAN

DATE

DRAWING NO.

14

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

SCALE

FUTURE LAND USE & FAVORABLE FOR DEVELOPMENT PLANS

361 Albany Turnpike: 
Designated 

Opportunity Site
361 Albany Turnpike: 
Designated Favorable 

Development Site

“Property lies within a Designated Area for Favorable Development”

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

POTENTIAL OPPORTUNITY ZONES

DATE

DRAWING NO.

15

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

SCALE

POTENTIAL OPPORTUNITY ZONES

361 Albany Turnpike
“Village Center”

361 Albany Turnpike
Zoned: B-Business

361 Albany Turnpike
Opportunity Location

“Property is designated as an Opportunity Zone Location”

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

DATE

DRAWING NO.

16

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

SCALE

ZONING MAP

ZONING MAP

“Site Plan anticipates Business Zone to allow Multi-family Apartments”

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

DATE

DRAWING NO.

17

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

SCALE

WETLANDS, FLOODPLAINS & WATERCOURSES

WETLANDS, FLOODPLAINS & 
WATERCOURSES

“Concept Plan respects Wetland Buffer requirements”

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

DATE

DRAWING NO.

18

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

SCALE

MUNICIPAL SEWER INFRASTRUCTURE

MUNICIPAL SEWER 
INFRASTRUCTURE

“Municipal sewer and water infrastructure  are available at the intersection 

of Dyer Avenue and Route 44, west of the property”

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

DATE

DRAWING NO.

19

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

SCALE

PROPERTY BOUNDARY SURVEY

PROPERTY BOUNDARY SURVEY

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

DATE

DRAWING NO.

20

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

SCALE

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE

A2 SURVEY

A2 SURVEY

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016



PROJECT NAME

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
MASTER PLAN

REV.       DATE                           DESCRIPTION

COMPANY

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

APPROVED BY

PROPERTY ADDRESS

361 ALBANY TURNPIKE
CANTON, CT  06019

DATE APPROVED

DRAWING TITLE

DATE

DRAWING NO.

21

OWNER

A  R  G  C  O

SCALE

TOPOGRAPHY AT 2 FOOT CONTOURS & PROPERTY WETLANDS DELINEATION

TOPOGRAPHY

SEPTEMBER 6, 2016



 

   
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
Regular Meeting  

 Canton Planning and Zoning Commission 
Wednesday, July 20, 2016 at 7:30 pm 

Community Center, Room F 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER: The Regular Meeting of Canton Planning & Zoning Commission on July 20, 2016 was 
called to order at 7:31 p.m. 
 
PRESENT: Jonathan Thiesse, John Huyghebaert, Phil Pane, David Bondanza, Kevin Baldwin and 
Lansford Perry  
ABSENT: Bill Sarmuk, David Evens and Ryan O’Donnell 
ALSO PRESENT: Town Planner Neil Pade and Land Use Coordinator Renee Narducci 
 
A quorum of the Commission is present. 
 
MODIFICATION OF AGENDA: None 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE: Read by Mr. Pane. 
 
Mr. Perry recused himself at 7:35 p.m. 
 
1. File #448; Apln #1601; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 22; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; 

Special Permit, Section 3.4.G.3, height exception for architectural building elements; request 
to construct a +/- 528 sq. ft. detached garage that is 24 ft. in height; Peter Hiza, applicant; 
Russell and Renata Maglietti, owners – Mr. Peter Hiza was present in order to discuss the 
application and answer any questions the Commission had. The homeowners are looking to construct 
a detached two-car garage that is 24 feet in height, which includes a 3 foot cupola. Since the 
proposed structure is within the minimum yard setbacks for accessory structures, the requested 
height currently exceeds the 12 foot maximum, which is why the applicant is seeking a Special 
Permit. Mr. Hiza showed pictures of the current property, as well as the proposed design for the 
garage. Mr. Pade provided an overview of the Zoning Regulations and Special Permit requirements. 
Mr. Huyghebaert read aloud for the record, a letter that was received by the Land Use Office from an 
adjacent property owning expressing their support for the application.  

 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved to close the public hearing for File #448; Apln #1601. Mr. Pane 
seconded the motion, which passed unanimously 5-0-0. 

 
Mr. Perry returned at 7:46 p.m. 
Mr. Baldwin recused himself at 7:47 p.m. 
 
2. File #447; Apln #1606; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Assessor’s Map 34; Parcel 2810039; Zone R-1; 

Special Permit, Section 3.3.D.1.B, detached accessory dwelling; request to construct a 2,100 
square foot house; Danielle and James Boros, applicant/owner – Danielle and James Boros 
were present in order to discuss the application and answer any questions the Commission had. The 
appropriateness of this request was reviewed by the Commission as part of an informal review at the 
Commission’s April 20

th
 meeting. The applicant is looking to build a detached accessory dwelling, 



which would then become the primary dwelling. By doing so, the current home, which is an existing 
non-confirming structure, would become the accessory dwelling.  
 
Daniel Barnhart of 6 Allen Place, Collinsville, CT stated that he sees no issues with the proposed home.  
 
Rebecca Andrews of 7 Mill Lane, Collinsville, CT stated that she sees no issues with the proposed home. 
 
Laura Crowley of 12 Allen Place, Collinsville, CT expressed her concerns regarding water runoff, 
sewer hookup and the location of the proposed home.  
 
The applicants stated that the new home will connect to the sewer main that runs along Gildersleeve 
Avenue and water will be provided by the CT Water Company. Mr. Pade provided an overview of staff 
comments, as well as an explanation of Zoning Regulations pertaining to Special Permit criteria. 
 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved to close the public hearing for File #447; Apln #1606. Mr. Pane 
seconded the motion, which passed unanimously 5-0-0. 

 
Mr. Baldwin returned at 8:02 p.m. 
 
3. File #336; Apln #1610; 72 and 76 Simonds Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and 

4820076; Zone MCPF; Special Permits, Section 6.4.D.1.A, parks, recreational fields and 
playgrounds including buildings allowed by special permit, and Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement 
of special permit standards; and Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; request to construct a 120 
square foot concession stand; Dwight Carlson, applicant; Town of Canton, owner – Mr. Dwight 
Carlson, Director of Facilities for the Board of Education, was present to discuss the application and 
answer any questions the Commission had. Although the application requests a 120 square foot 
structure, the applicant would like to increase the permitted size to no greater than 170 square feet. 
At a recent meeting with the Board of Education and Canton Athletic Booster Club, it was determined 
that a 120 square foot concession stand would be tight and the structure itself is now going to be 
constructed by volunteers instead of purchased. The Board of Education is currently working with the 
Farmington Valley Health District in order to seek the appropriate approvals for the selling of 
packaged products. Electricity will be provided to the structure; however, there is no plan for water or 
sewer hookup at this time. Mr. Greg Skinner, President of the Canton Athletic Booster Club, 
explained that the Concession Stand was being given to the school as a gift.  
 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved to close the public hearing for File #336; Apln #1610. Mr. Baldwin 
seconded the motion, which passed unanimously 6-0-0. 

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS:  
 
Mr. Perry recused himself at 8:17 p.m. 
 
1. File #448; Apln #1601; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 22; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; 

Special Permit, Section 3.4.G.3, height exception for architectural building elements; request 
to construct a +/- 528 sq. ft. detached garage that is 24 ft. in height; Peter Hiza, applicant; 
Russell and Renata Maglietti, owners  

 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved that the Commission hereby APPROVES File #448; Apln #1601; 145 
Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 22; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; Special Permit, Section 3.4.G.3, 
height exception for architectural building elements; request to construct a +/- 528 sq. ft. detached 
garage that is 24 ft. in height; Peter Hiza, applicant; Russell and Renata Maglietti, owners. 

 



This approval with conditions and modifications is made, in part, on the basis of, and the 
Commission’s reliance upon, the application form dated May 23, 2016; information received at a 
public hearing commenced on July 20, 2016 and closed on that date; and upon the following 
documentation submitted by the Applicant or others during the course of the proceedings on the 
application: 

 
Drawings: 

 
1. Sheet 1; Survey & Site Plan for Proposed Garage; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Prepared by Robert 

Hiza; Prepared for Mr. & Mrs. Maglietti; dated 3/17/16; revised 4/19/16 
 

Correspondence: 
 

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #448; Apln #1601; 145 Cherry 
Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 22; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; Special Permit, Section 3.4.G.3, 
height exception for architectural building elements; request to construct a +/- 528 sq. ft. 
detached garage that is 24 ft. in height; Peter Hiza, applicant; Russell and Renata Maglietti, 
owners 

2. Copy of payment; check #1514 
3. Special permit application checklist 
4. Letter to the Planning and Zoning Commission from Peter Hiza explaining request; dated 5/22/16 
5. Picture depicting the proposed garage 
6. Signed certification of notice for the public hearing sign; dated 5/23/16 
7. List of abutters 
8. Map of abutters 
9. Town of Canton legal notice 
10. Proof of legal notice from the Valley Press 
11. Email from Renee Narducci to Mrs. Maglietti regarding the need for abutter notices; dated 5/25/16 
12. Sample abutter notice provided to applicant on 5/15/16 
13. Packet of abutter information in placed in Land Use Office mailbox by Mrs. Maglietti on 6/21/16 
14. Email communication between Neil Pade and Mrs. Maglietti regarding inefficient abutter 

notification; dated 6/22/16 
15. Abutter notice; dated 6/22/16; received by Land Use Office on 6/24/16 
16. Certificate of mailings; dated 6/23/16; received by Land Use Office on 6/24/16 
17. Draft PZC minutes from the 6/15/16 regular meeting 
18. Application for Addition from the Farmington Valley Health District regarding 145 Cherry brook 

Road, approved on 7/6/2016 
19. Memorandum from Peter Hiza to Canton Planning and Zoning Commission regarding Special 

Permit request, proposed garage; dated July 9, 2016 
20. Email communication from Sharon and Chris Weakly regarding File #448 Apln #1601; dated July 

12, 2016 
 

This approval with is granted because the Commission finds that the application, as conditioned and 
modified by and inclusive of the stipulations of this approval, would comply with the following: 

 
1. Special Permit criteria of Section 9.2.E; 
2. Special Permit criteria of Section 3.4.G.3, height exception for architectural building elements 

 
This approval is effective August 9, 2016 (20 Days from approval date) and UPON THE 
RECORDING OF AN APPROVAL LETTER AND A CERTIFICATE OF ACTION WITH THE TOWN 
CLERK.  

 
The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications, 
restrictions, and safeguards: 

 



1. The failure to record this special permit within twelve (12) months of approval  (July 20, 2017) 
shall void the special permit in accordance with Section 9.2.H.1 of the regulations; 

2. The approved use must be conducted on the site within thirty-six (36) months (July 20, 2019) 
from the date of approval or the approval shall expire, in accordance with Section 9.2.H.3.   

3. This approval shall be binding upon the Applicant / developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees.  
 

SECONDED: By Mr. Huyghebaert. 
VOTE: Passed unanimously, 5-0-0. 

 
Mr. Perry returned at 8:22 p.m. 
Mr. Baldwin recused himself at 8:22 p.m. 
 
2. File #447; Apln #1606; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Assessor’s Map 34; Parcel 2810039; Zone R-1; 

Special Permit, Section 3.3.D.1.B, detached accessory dwelling; request to construct a 2,100 
square foot house; Danielle and James Boros, applicant/owner  

 
MOTION: Mr. Bondanza moved that the Commission hereby APPROVES File #447; Apln #1606; 39 
Gildersleeve Avenue; Assessor’s Map 34; Parcel 2810039; Zone R-1; Special Permit, Section 
3.3.D.1.B, detached accessory dwelling; request to construct a 2,100 square foot house; Danielle and 
James Boros, applicant/owner. 
 
This approval with conditions and modifications is made, in part, on the basis of, and the 
Commission’s reliance upon, the application form dated June 20, 2016; information received at a 
public hearing commenced on July 20, 2016 and closed on that date; and upon the following 
documentation submitted by the Applicant or others during the course of the proceedings on the 
application: 

 
Drawings: 

 
1. C-1.0; Site Plan; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Prepared for James & Danielle Boros; Prepared by 

Hodge Surveying, LLC; dated 5/20/16 
2. C-2.0; Erosion & Sedimentation Control Plan; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Prepared for James & 

Danielle Boros; Prepared by Hodge Surveying, LLC; dated 5/20/16 
3. C-3.0; Details; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Prepared for James & Danielle Boros; Prepared by 

Hodge Surveying, LLC; dated 5/20/16 
4. SV-1; Improvement Location & Topographic Survey; 39 Gildersleeve Avenue; Prepared for 

James & Danielle Boros; Prepared by Hodge Surveying, LLC; dated 5/20/16 
 

Correspondence: 
 

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #447; Apln #1606; 39 
Gildersleeve Avenue; Assessor’s Map 34; Parcel 2810039; Zone R-1; Special Permit, Section 
3.3.D.1.B, detached accessory dwelling; request to construct a 2,100 square foot house; Danielle 
and James Boros, applicant/owner 

2. Special Permit Application checklist 
3. Assessor’s card for 39 Gildersleeve Avenue 
4. Abutter map 
5. List of abutters 
6. Copy of the abutter notice; received by the Land Use Office on 6/22/16 
7. Signed certification of notice; dated 6/22/16 
8. Proof of legal notice in the Valley Press 
9. Copy of payment; check #1032 
10. July 12, 2016 letter from Roger J. Ignazio Jr, Superintendent, Canton WPCA indicating capacity 

review approval of 39 Gildersleeve Avenue 
11. E-mail communication dated July 13, 2016 indicating available capacity from the Ct. Water 

Company 



This approval is granted because the Commission finds that the application, as conditioned and 
modified by and inclusive of the stipulations of this approval, would comply with the following: 

 
1. Special Permit criteria, Section 3.3.D.1.B, detached accessory dwelling 
2. Special Permit criteria of Section 9.2.E 

 
This approval is effective August 9, 2016 (20 Days from approval date) and UPON THE 
RECORDING OF AN APPROVAL LETTER AND A CERTIFICATE OF ACTION WITH THE TOWN 
CLERK.  

 
The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications, 
restrictions, and safeguards: 

 
1. The above-referenced plans, as modified by these conditions, shall be placed on Mylar, bear all 

the conditions of all land use commissions, and stamped “APPROVED” and signed by the 
Planning and Zoning Commission (PZC) on a Town approved signature block. Said plans shall 
be filed by the applicant with the Town Planner and Town Clerk by July 20, 2017,12 months from 
the date of approval; The applicant/ developer must provide one (1) fixed line Mylar, and two (2) 
paper copies of each approved plan for signature by the Chairman and /or Secretary.  Maps to be 
filed on the land records of the Town Clerk must meet the following standards: 
 
Must be produced by 1) wash-off photographic polyester film, 2) fixed line photographic polyester 
film, 3) original ink drawing on polyester film or linen; the process used must be certified by a 
stamp in red indelible ink, 1” x 2”, and include name of producer and process used.  Polyester 
films (“Mylar”) must be matte on at least one side.  Maps shall be 24” x 36”.  
 
In addition, a note shall be placed on the Mylar indicating that the new structure shall become the 
primary residence.  
 

2. The owner of the lot shall occupy either the principal dwelling unit or the accessory dwelling unit; 
3. The detached accessory dwelling unit shall be located on the same lot with the primary dwelling 

unit to which it is accessory; 
4. The accessory dwelling unit shall not be billed separately from the principal dwelling unit for 

utilities; 
5. All necessary approvals and permits must be obtained from the Water Pollution Control Authority 

including the execution of a signed agreement to connect to a sanitary sewer prior to the 
commencement of any site activities or issuance of any building permits.  

6. All necessary approvals and permits must be obtained from the Connecticut Water Company 
prior to the commencement of any site activities or issuance of any building permits.  

7. The developer shall be responsible for erosion and sedimentation control in accordance with the 
approved plan; failure to adhere to the plans, or create any discharge of materials, shall be 
considered a violation; 

8. A Certificate of Occupancy (Certificates of Zoning Compliance) may be issued only after evidence 
is submitted of separate billing of utilities; 

9. A complete improvement location survey (as-built) plans are to be submitted to the Town; 
10. All work in connection with the site plan shall be completed within five years after the approval, or 

July 20, 2020 in accordance with Section 9.1.G.2 of the regulations; 
11. The failure to record this special permit within twelve (12) months of approval  (July 20, 2017) 

shall void the special permit in accordance with Section 9.2.H.1 of the regulations; 
12. The approved use must be conducted on the site within thirty-six (36) months (July 20, 2019) 

from the date of approval or the approval shall expire, in accordance with Section 9.2.H.3.   
13. This approval shall be binding upon the Applicant/developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees.  

 
SECONDED: By Mr. Thiesse. 
VOTE: Passed unanimously, 5-0-0. 

 



Mr. Baldwin returned at 8:28 p.m. 
 
3. File #336; Apln #1610; 72 and 76 Simonds Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and 

4820076; Zone MCPF; Special Permits, Section 6.4.D.1.A, parks, recreational fields and 
playgrounds including buildings allowed by special permit, and Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement 
of special permit standards; and Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; request to construct a 120 
square foot concession stand; Dwight Carlson, applicant; Town of Canton, owner  
 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved that the Commission hereby APPROVES File #336; Apln #1610; 72 
and 76 Simonds Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and 4820076; Zone MCPF; Special 
Permits, Section 6.4.D.1.A, parks, recreational fields and playgrounds including buildings allowed by 
special permit, and Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of special permit standards; and Site Plan 
Modification, Section 9.1; request to construct a 120 square foot concession stand; Dwight Carlson, 
applicant; Town of Canton, owner. 

 
This approval with conditions and modifications is made, in part, on the basis of, and the 
Commission’s reliance upon, the application form dated June 22, 2016; information received at a 
public hearing commenced on July 20, 2016 and closed on that date; and upon the following 
documentation submitted by the Applicant or others during the course of the proceedings on the 
application: 

 
Drawings: 

 
1. LA; Site Plan – Layout; 72 & 76 Simonds Avenue; Prepared for Canton High School; Prepared by 

Milone & MacBroom; dated 1/3/13 
 

Correspondence: 
 

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #336; Apln #1610; 72 and 76 
Simonds Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and 4820076; Zone MCPF; Special 
Permits, Section 6.4.D.1.A, parks, recreational fields and playgrounds including buildings allowed 
by special permit, and Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of special permit standards; and Site Plan 
Modification, Section 9.1; request to construct a 120 square foot concession stand; Dwight 
Carlson, applicant; Town of Canton, owner 

2. Special Permit Application checklist 
3. Narrative depicting the proposed scope of work 
4. Assessor’s card for 72 Simonds Avenue 
5. Assessor’s card for 76 Simonds Avenue 
6. Abutter’s list for 72 Simonds Avenue 
7. Abutter’s map for 72 Simonds Avenue 
8. Abutter’s list for 76 Simonds Avenue 
9. Abutter’s map for 76 Simonds Avenue 
10. Signed certification of noticed; dated 6/24/16 
11. Copy of the abutter noticed; dated 6/24/16; received by Land Use Office on 6/29/16 
12. Proof of legal notice from the Valley Press 
13. Proof of abutter notices; received by the Land Use Office on 7/12/16 
14. Picture of the Town of Somer’s concession stand; received during the public hearing on 7/20/16 

 
This approval is granted because the Commission finds that the application, as conditioned and 
modified by and inclusive of the stipulations of this approval, would comply with the following: 

 
1. Site Plan Section 9.1.A.1 – Modification to an Approved Site Plan  
2. Special Permit Section 6.4.E.10 – Enlargement of Special Permit Section 6.4.D.1.a Parks, 

recreation fields and playgrounds.  
 



This approval is effective August 9, 2016 (20 Days from approval date) and UPON THE 
RECORDING OF AN APPROVAL LETTER AND A CERTIFICATE OF ACTION WITH THE TOWN 
CLERK.  

 
The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications, 
restrictions, and safeguards: 

 
1. The filing of a Mylar is NOT required; 
2. This approval is subject to the review of the proposed structure by the Building Official and Fire 

Marshal for compliance with life/safety codes; 
3. This approval is subject to the review of the Farmington Valley Health District; 
4. Any necessary subsequent modification resulting from #2 or #3 may be review and approved by 

the ZEO; 
5. The concession stand be constructed in the area identified on the above referenced site plan and 

shall not exceed 170 sf in area. 
6. All work in connection with the site plan shall be completed within five years after the approval, or 

July 20, 2020 in accordance with Section 9.1.G.2 of the regulations; 
7. The failure to record this special permit within twelve (12) months of approval  (July 20, 2017) 

shall void the special permit in accordance with Section 9.2.H.1 of the regulations; 
8. The approved use must be conducted on the site within thirty-six (36) months (July 20, 2019) 

from the date of approval or the approval shall expire, in accordance with Section 9.2.H.3.   
9. This approval shall be binding upon the Applicant / developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees.  
 
SECONDED: By Mr. Baldwin. 
VOTE: Passed unanimously, 6-0-0. 

 
OLD BUSINESS: None 
 
NEW BUSINESS:  
 
1. File #379; 8 Stonemeadow Lane, 110 Bunker Hill Road and 118 Bunker Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 

10 & 11; Parcels 5000008, 1550110 & 1550118; Zone R-3; Lot Line Revision; Allan Johnson, 
applicant; Allan Johnson & Nora Jamieson, owners – Mr. Pade provided the Commission with an 
overview of the application, as the applicant was unable to attend tonight’s meeting. The applicant is 
seeking to consolidate three individual parcels, all of which were created through previously approved 
subdivisions.  

 
MOTION:  Mr. Bondanza that the Commission hereby APPROVE File #379; 8 Stonemeadow Lane, 
110 Bunker Hill Road and 118 Bunker Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 10 & 11; Parcels 5000008, 1550110 
& 1550118; Zone R-3; Lot Line Revision; Allan Johnson, applicant; Allan Johnson & Nora Jamieson, 
owners. 

 
This approval is granted in accordance with the Application dated June 23, 2016.  

 
This approval is also granted based on the following submitted with plan(s) entitled: 

 
1. Compilation Plan; 8 Stonemeadow Lane; Prepared for Allan Johnson & Nora Jamieson; Prepared 

by Hodge Surveying, LLC; dated 6/16/16 
 

In addition to the above-referenced plans, this approval is granted in accordance with the following 
documentation submitted by the applicant, or otherwise submitted to the Commission: 

  
1. Town of Canton – Zoning Development Application for File #379; 8 Stonemeadow Lane, 110 

Bunker Hill Road and 118 Bunker Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 10 & 11; Parcels 5000008, 1550110 
& 1550118; Zone R-3; Lot Line Revision; Allan Johnson, applicant; Allan Johnson & Nora 
Jamieson, owners 



2. Copy of payment; check #1998 
3. Assessor’s card for 118 Bunker Hill Road 
4. Assessor’s card for 110 Bunker Hill Road 
5. Assessor’s card for 8 Stonemeadow Lane 

 
This approval is effective upon the recording of the Mylar with the town clerk.  

 
Must be produced by 1) wash-off photographic polyester film, 2) fixed line photographic polyester film, 
3) original ink drawing on polyester film or linen; the process used must be certified by a stamp in red 
indelible ink, 1” x 2”, and include name of producer and process used.  Polyester films (“Mylar”) must 
be matte on at least one side.  Maps shall be 24” x 36”. 

 
SECONDED: By Mr. Thiesse. 
VOTE: Passed unanimously, 6-0-0. 

 
2. File #244; Apln #1609; 10 East Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcel 2430010; Zone MCPF; Site 

Plan Modification, Section 9.1; request to expand the current skate park; Josh Medeiros, 
applicant; Town of Canton, owner – Director of Parks and Recreation Josh Medeiros and Project 
Administrator George Wallace were present to discuss the application and answer any questions the 
Commission had. Mr. Medeiros provided an overview of the proposed scope of work, which includes 
a 3,000 square foot addition to the existing skate park. The Commission was also informed of the 
recent approval received from the Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Agency on June 9, 2016.  

 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved that the Commission hereby approves File #244; Apln #1609; 10 East 
Hill Road; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcel 2430010; Zone MCPF; Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; 
request to expand the current skate park; Josh Medeiros, applicant; Town of Canton, owner. 

 
This approval with conditions and modifications is made, in part, on the basis of, and the 
Commission’s reliance upon, the application form dated June 22, 2016; information received at a 
public hearing commenced on July 13, 2016 and closed on that date; and upon the following 
documentation submitted by the Applicant or others during the course of the proceedings on the 
application: 

 
Drawings: 

 
Sheet 1; Existing Layout; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016 
Sheet 2; Proposed Addition; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016 
Sheet 3; Erosion Control; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016 
Sheet 4; Proposed Grading; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016 
Sheet 5; Proposed Elevations; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016 
Sheet 6; Proposed Dimensions; Mills Pond Skate Park; dated May 31, 2016 

 
Correspondence: 

 
1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #244; Apln #1609; 10 East Hill 

Road; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcel 2430010; Zone MCPF; Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; 
request to expand the current skate park; Josh Medeiros, applicant; Town of Canton, owner 

2. Site Plan Application checklist 
3. Copy of the IWWA approval letter for File #06-16-1134; dated 6/14/16 

 
This approval is granted because the Commission finds that the application, as conditioned and 
modified by and inclusive of the stipulations of this approval, would comply with the following: 

 
1. Site Plan Section 9.1.A.1 – Modification to an Approved Site Plan  

 



This approval is effective August 9, 2016 (20 Days from approval date) and UPON THE RECORDING 
OF AN APPROVAL LETTER AND A CERTIFICATE OF ACTION WITH THE TOWN CLERK.  

 
The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications, 
restrictions, and safeguards: 

 
1. The filing of a Mylar is not required; 
2. Erosion controls shall be installed and inspected by the ZEO prior to the commencement of any site 

activities; 
3. A pre-construction meeting shall be held with contractor doing the work and the ZEO and Project 

Administrator prior to the commencement of any site activities; 
4. All work in connection with the site plan shall be completed within five years after the approval, or July 

20, 2020 in accordance with Section 9.1.G.2 of the regulations; 
5. The failure to record this special permit within twelve (12) months of approval  (July 20, 2017) shall 

void the special permit in accordance with Section 9.2.H.1 of the regulations; 
6. The approved use must be conducted on the site within thirty-six (36) months (July 20, 2019) from the 

date of approval or the approval shall expire, in accordance with Section 9.2.H.3.   
7. This approval shall be binding upon the Applicant/developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees.  

 
SECONDED: By Mr. Huyghebaert. 
VOTE: Passed unanimously, 6-0-0. 

 
OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
MOTION: Mr. Huyghebaert moved to discuss ITEM #6: Discussion of athletic field lighting at 76 Simonds 
Avenue under first. Mr. Bondanza seconded the motion, which passed unanimously 6-0-0. 
 
1. Discussion of athletic field lighting at 76 Simonds Avenue – Mr. Pade provided an overview of the 

proposed scope of work and stated that an application will be submitted in the near future. Dwight 
Carlson stated that no quotes for the lighting have been received at this time but the Board of Education 
hopes to begin that process shortly. Mr. Kevin Case, Superintendent of Schools, informed that 
Commission that funding for the lights will begin once all approvals are received. The current estimated 
height of the poles is 80-85 feet, and the application will require a public hearing. The Commission 
stressed the need for a photometric survey and how the public should be well informed of the proposed 
activity. 

2. Review minutes from the June 15, 2016 Regular Meeting – The minutes were approved as presented. 

3. Discussion of Possible Edits to Zoning Regulations 
a. Review of draft language pertaining to Electronic Message Board Signs – Based on last month’s 

discussion and guidance from the Commission, the ZEO has conducted additional research, which 
was included as part of the meeting packet. The Commission discussed at length the various pros 
and cons of EMBs, and how the town can move forward with the adoption of said regulations. In 
preparation of next month’s regular meeting, the members were asked to read through the 
documentation provided by the ZEO to come up with questions, suggestions, ideas, etc.  

4. Discussion of Design Regulations – A Special Meeting has been scheduled for Wednesday, July 27, 
2016 at 6:30 p.m.; in Room B of the Community Center. This meeting will focus on reviewing and editing 
the draft Form-Based Code Use Table.  

5. Discussion of Subdivision Regulations Rewrite – Mr. Pade met with the consultant on July 12, 2016, 
at which time all comments and edits were relayed, and will be incorporated into the draft. A finalized draft 
is expected to be received within three weeks, while the Town Project Administrator is wrapping up edits 
to the Public Improvement Standards. A survey has been completed of all town roads to ensure that pre-
1990 reconstruction standards being drafted will work with existing conditions. Next steps include 
updating tables with new information, providing graphics/details and text amendments by the consultant. 



6. Discussion of possible updates to the Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures – Changes 
are currently being drafted and a revised document will be distributed once complete. 

7. Staff Reports:  

a. Town Planner’s Report – Mr. Pade talked about the POCD and how the 2
nd

 Annual Report has 
been submitted to the Board of Selectmen. A Super-Board meeting will be scheduled for 
September in order to discuss the town’s progress on the POCD, as well as areas in need of 
improvement. Neil also informed the Commission of a recent meeting he had with FAVARH 
regarding their proposed expansion on Commerce Drive. A sketch of the proposed expansion 
was provided as a handout to the Commission and it was suggested that the developer submit a 
Pre-Application Review. It was requested by the developer that the Planning and Zoning 
Commission visit FAVARH’s recently constructed facility in Simsbury, CT. Neil stated that he will 
work on scheduling a joint site walk at the Simsbury Facility between the Planning and Zoning 
Commission, and Economic Development Agency. Lastly, Mr. Pade advised the Commission of a 
proposed concept for 361 Albany Turnpike. The concept consists of five free-standing, garden-
style apartment complexes.  

b. ZEO Report – The monthly report was distributed electronically prior to the start of the meeting. 
Mr. Pade informed the Commission that the Land Use Office received an inquiry from Petals and 
Paws regarding a Minor Site Plan Modification. The property owner would like to change the 
proposed barn on the rear of the property, which was approved as part of a Site Plan Application, 
to a greenhouse. The inquiry was brought before the Commission in order to determine whether a 
Site Plan Modification application was required or if the request could be handled by staff through 
a Minor Site Plan Modification application. After some discussion, it was determined that the Land 
Use Office shall advise the property owner to move forward with a Minor Site Plan Modification. 
Mr. Pade also informed the Commission of recent complaints regarding 72 Lawton Road. It 
appears that neighboring property owners are concerned with the contents seen on the property 
and the ZEO is seeking guidance on how to proceed. After some deliberation, it was determined 
that the Commission recognized there was an issue that should be addressed, but was not able 
to identify it as an actionable matter for zoning enforcement.  It was suggested that it may need to 
be resolved as a civil matter. 

 
MOTION: Mr. Bondanza moved to appoint Jonathan Thiesse as Chairman of the Planning and Zoning 
Commission, as he must resign from the Commission. Mr. Perry seconded the motion, which passed 5-0-
1. Mr. Thiesse abstained.  
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved to adjourn the meeting at 9:42 p.m. Mr. Pane seconded the motion, which 
passed unanimously 6-0-0.  
 
 



 - 1 - 

  
 

 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

Special Meeting 
Canton Planning & Zoning Commission and Economic Development Agency 

Wednesday, August 17, 2016 at 6:30 pm 
Main Entrance of Ojakian Commons 

100 Casterbridge Crossing 
Simsbury, CT 06070 

 
 

CALL TO ORDER:  The Special Meeting of August 17, 2016 was called to order at 6:33 p.m.  
 
PRESENT:  
PZC Members: Jonathan Thiesse, Phil Pane, John Huyghebaert, Lansford Perry and David Evens 
 
EDA Members: Robert Bessel, Anne Hunter, Bill Volovski and Amy Parchen 
 
Staff: Town Planner Neil Pade, Assistant Planner Emily Anyzeski and Recording Secretary Jennifer Scott 
 
Potential Applicants: Stephen Morris, Executive Director, The Arc of Farmington Valley (FAVARH)  

Ken Regan, Vice President Regan Development Corporation 
Phil Doyle, Principal, LADA 

 
SITE-WALK 

 
1. Tour of Ojakian Commons, an Independent Living Apartment Complex for People with Disabilities 
 
Mr. Thiesse opened the meeting. 

 
Mr. Pade explained the purpose of the informational review proceeding CGS 7-159b which allows for 
open discussion and feedback between potential applicants and commission members in a non-binding 
proceeding. Mr. Regan gave a brief introduction to the facility and the concept of special needs housing.  
Mr. Morris provided a brief explanation on the mission of Favarh and services provided. Mr. Regan 
provided a tour of the facility presenting common/ community areas, working examples of programmed 
activities, and examples of community integration within the facility.  Examples of specialized design and 
construction were noted throughout the tour including designs of entryways, elevators, stairs, and 
hallways.  Two residential units were toured where the accessible design features for kitchen counters, 
cabinets, appliances, living quarters, rolling closets, lift options, and door design where noted.  Accessible 
trash, recycling and community garden areas were noted. 
 
The meeting returned to the community room, and a packet was handed out. 
 
A presentation began by Mr. Doyle explaining the location and setting of the proposed site in the Canton 
Commerce Center, an industrial zoned piece of property.  Mr. Doyle said that the current owner, Casle 
Corporation, has been unsuccessful in finding light industrial development opportunities at this property.  
As a result, the undeveloped lots have been laying fallow for 20 or more years.  He explained that Regan 
Development Corporation and Favarh have approached Casle Corporation about purchasing a portion of 
the land for a residential development to fulfill needs at Favarh and within the community.  The purchase 
would include Lots 8 and 9 totaling approximately 7.5-8 acres.  Because of this offer and a presumption 
that the lots to the west will transition to residential, Mr. Doyle suggested that this may be a “threshold” 
moment for the EDA and PZC. They may want to consider moving the struggling park forward in a 
direction maybe not originally intended, but a direction that would help meet the needs of the community.  



 - 2 - 

Mr. Doyle said they would request a zone change and site plan approval and develop a master plan for 
the park as defined under the Design District section of the current zoning regulations. 

 
There was discussion if this application can be evaluated as a stand alone proposal or if more information 
would be needed about the intended future for the remaining lots in the industrial park. Mr. Morris 
explained how the design of the proposed development will meet future trends for how to best support 
people with intellectual disabilities both at the state and community levels.  He went on to describe the 
many benefits of this type of special needs housing and said he believes it will become a model that 
people will want to copy around the state and around the country. 

 
Mr. Regan discussed the favorable demand projections for the special needs and non-special needs 
units.  Mr. Morris commented that many of the Favarh employees fit the profile for the special needs units.  
Mr. Regan described the population that would qualify for the non-special needs, reduced income units. 
Mr. Regan said that if this project were approved, they would be requesting that the Board of Selectmen 
create a piece of legislation that would reassess the property taxes at this site at a reduced rate in order 
to support below market rental rents. Mr. Pade commented that while we may have economic interests 
related to this project, it would also help meet the town’s goals to provide adequate affordable housing 
options. The group discussed future expansion possibilities for the park and how Favarh could continue to 
be an important partner moving forward. 

 
Mr. Doyle summarized what the next steps would be including designing a rough master plan for the park, 
having additional informal conversations with the PZC and the EDA ensuring community support for this 
project, having a conversation with the BOS about possible taxation legislation, and finally putting 
together a formal application.  He added that part of the process would be to get the necessary approvals 
in place in order to secure bond financing for the project by June of next year. 
 
AJOURNMENT:   
 
MOTION:  Mr. Huyghebaert moved to adjourn the Special Meeting of the Canton Planning & Zoning 
Commission and Economic Development Agency at 7:55 p.m.  Mr. Thiesse seconded the motion.  The 
motion passed unanimously. 
 
 
 



TOWN OF CANTON

LAND USE OFFICE
4 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut 06022

1

MEMORANDUM

To: Planning and Zoning Commission

CC: Neil S. Pade AICP, Town Planner

From: Emily Anyzeski, Assistant Town Planner, ZEO

Re: Summary of Research Gathered for Electronic Signage

Date: July 18, 2016

Background

As a result of several inquiries for Electronic Message Board Signage (EMBS) in the Town of
Canton, research was requested by the Planning and Zoning Commission from other towns in
Connecticut, as well as from a vendor, for more information and model regulations.

Municipal Summary

On June 29, 2016, the ZEO posted to CT Planners Listserv regarding the regulation of EMBS.
Three towns responded. Old Saybrook does permit EMBS, with strict provisions regarding the
area of the sign, height limitations, and frequency of text changes. These provisions are similar to
what Canton has been looking in to, and can be found in the compilation of responses from List
Serv, as attached.

The Town of Windsor does not permit EMBS unless they remain static, such as an open sign, or
gas prices at gas stations. Although the Town of Greenwich does not allow EMBS, they do have
a sample code for digital signage, which can be found in the compilation of EMBS research.

The Greenwich example code discusses both the pros and cons of digital signage. Some of the
benefits include effectiveness, and surprisingly, simplicity. For a large plaza or a multi-tenant
building, one free-standing sign can effectively advertise signage, on a single freestanding sign.
This is effective when regulations do not permit any additional signage for the tenant or space on
the permitted sign for the permanent identification of all tenants.



2

There are a few key issues with EMBS that may bring concern. Research has pointed out that
enforcement can be challenging on EMBS. Even with a strict regulation on the frequency of text
change, businesses have the ability to change their message at will, which could be challenging
to monitor. Additionally, there can be brightness issues, adding to visual clutter, and locational
concerns (in proximity to traffic lights, etc.). This is where proper regulations are necessary to
limit these factors.

The model code that the Town of Greenwich has provided has a useful chart that separates the
regulation of EMBS by “Character Area” (district). This provides a visual graphic to show
businesses where the signage is permitted, and depending on district, exactly what provisions
they must follow.

Town of Greenwich: Model Sign Code



3

Vendor Summary

Evan Walsh, the Territory Manager at Watchfire Signs has provided some information for the

town. Each of the submitted documents will be attached to this memo. However, to summarize,

he provided documents to address common misconceptions, a sample code, a code from Urban

Design Associates, etc.

The example code (titled CT General Code) is relatively simple:

Suggested Regulation

A) Any proposed electronic message center must be equipped with automatic dimming
capabilities or a photocell that detects ambient light and adjust brightness levels
accordingly.

B) The proposed sign shall hold a static message for 6 seconds (CT State Highway Standard)

C) Transitions between ad’s shall be limited to 1 seconds

D) The applicant shall be willing to participate in emergency town alerts such as, driving
bans, school closings, and amber alerts

E) If an Electronic Message Center is installed the given property shall no longer use
temporary signage such as portable arrow signs or steak signs, or banners.

This sample code brings up emergency notifications, which is very important. The benefits of
EMBS are large, and regarding municipal gain, the Town can utilize them for events,
emergencies, elections… and ultimately, this reduces the amount of “stick-in” temporary
signage.

Mr. Walsh provided many documents regarding “common misconceptions” of EMBS that are
attached to this summary. Additionally, the “10 Facts in Support of Building Safe Vibrant
Communities” is very useful. It is recognized that even associations such as the American
Planning Association are recognizing that digital signage can support and grow the local
economy. Some of the interest points include

• Benefits to drivers: The Federal Highway Association and research organizations
have found no link between accidents and EMCs (Electronic Message Centers –
name by Watchfire) In fact, many organizations rely on these signs to inform
drivers of adverse weather, dangerous traffic conditions, and other emergencies.

• EMCs reduce visual clutter: businesses don’t need plastered posters, temporary
yard signage, flags, etc. All of these secondary methods of signage are contained
within the Electronic Message Center



 

    

 TOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTON    

    LAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICE E E E  
 4 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  06022 

 

1 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 
To: Planning and Zoning Commission 

 

CC: Emily Anyzeski, Assistant Planner 

 

From: Neil S. Pade AICP, Town Planner 

 

Re: Zoning Regulation Amendments pertaining to Design Review 

 

Date: August 31, 2016 

 

 

The following regulation amendments are proposed for the Commissions’ consideration: 

 

Existing Language:  

• Section 8.6, “Design Review” 

 

Proposed Revision Regulations:  

• Delete Section 8.6; 

• Renumber existing Section 8.7 to 8.6 

• Delete from Section 7.3.G.2, “In addition to the Design Review standards contained in Section 

8.6 of these Regulations,” and change the following “the” to “The”. 

• Update Table of Contents (TOC) as required 

 

Proposed Revisions Appendix 

• Delete Application Checklist Section 1.3, #25, Page A-16 and renumber remaining sections 

• Delete Application Checklist Section 1.3, #26.2.4, Page A-17 and renumber remaining sections 

• Delete Application Checklist Section 1.3, #26.43, Page A-22 and renumber remaining sections 

• Delete Application Checklist Section 1.3, #27.3, Page A-23 and renumber remaining sections 

• Delete Application Checklist Section 1.5, #19, Page A-30 and renumber remaining sections 

• Delete Zoning Permit Application Line, "Design Review (Advisory Comments)_______”, on 

Page A-103 

• Update TOC as required 



 

    

 TOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTON    

    LAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICE E E E  
 4 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  06022 

 

1 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 
To: Planning and Zoning Commission 

 

CC: Emily Anyzeski, Assistant Planner 

 

From: Neil S. Pade AICP, Town Planner 

 

Re: Zoning Regulation Amendments pertaining to Mixed Residential Accessory Uses 

 

Date: August 31, 2016 

 

 

The following regulation amendments are proposed for the Commissions’ consideration: 

 

Existing Language:  

• Appendix Section 3.6.E.6, Page A-76: “Accessory uses customary with and incidental to any 

aforesaid permitted uses or to any Special Exception use.” 

 

Proposed Revision:  

• Rewrite 3.6.E.6 to read; “Accessory buildings, structures, and uses customary with and incidental 

to any aforesaid permitted uses or to any Special Permit use.” 



 

    

 TOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTONTOWN OF CANTON    

    LAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICLAND USE OFFICE E E E  
 4 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  060224 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  06022 

 

1 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 
To: Planning and Zoning Commission 

 

CC: Emily Anyzeski, Assistant Planner 

 

From: Neil S. Pade AICP, Town Planner 

 

Re: Zoning Regulation Amendments Edit to Design District Section 5.1.C 

 

Date: September 2, 2016 

 

 

The following regulation amendments are proposed for the Commissions’ consideration: 

 

Existing Language: Section 5.1.C.2.e 
e. Additional Documentation - The following documentation is also required for applications that meet the 

requirements of Section Error! Reference source not found..1: 

i. a comprehensive traffic study prepared by a professional traffic engineer, in compliance with the 

standards of Section Error! Reference source not found., including an analysis of the maximum 

potential traffic and the capacity of streets within and neighboring the district to accommodate the 

projected traffic; 

ii. a letter from the water supply provider or the Farmington Valley Health District signifying adequate 

capacity to meet the development’s potable and fire-fighting water demands; 

iii. the provision of sufficient information to determine the adequacy of utilities, streets, and other 

related infrastructure to accommodate the proposed development; 

iv. a statement of how aesthetic, historic, or neighborhood views and landscapes, historic buildings, 

monuments, and landscaping shall be maintained where applicable; 

v. the application package shall contain detailed review comments from the WPCA and Farmington 

Valley Health District 

vi. a statement on how the General Development Plan complies with the Plan of Conservation and 

Development; and 

vii. a statement on how the General Development Plan adheres to the purpose of the Design District. 

 

 

Proposed Revision:  
e. Additional Documentation - The following documentation is also required for applications that meet the 

requirements of Section Error! Reference source not found..1: 

i. a comprehensive traffic study prepared by a professional traffic engineer, in compliance with the 

standards of Section Error! Reference source not found., including an analysis of the maximum 

potential traffic and the capacity of streets within and neighboring the district to accommodate the 

projected traffic; 

ii. a letter from the water supply provider or the Farmington Valley Health District signifying adequate 

capacity to meet the development’s potable and fire-fighting water demands; 



2 

iii. the provision of sufficient information to determine the adequacy of utilities, streets, and other 

related infrastructure to accommodate the proposed development; 

 

f. Additional Documentation - The following documentation is also required: 

i. a statement of how aesthetic, historic, or neighborhood views and landscapes, historic buildings, 

monuments, and landscaping shall be maintained where applicable; 

ii. the application package shall contain detailed review comments from the WPCA and Farmington 

Valley Health District 

iii. a statement on how the General Development Plan complies with the Plan of Conservation and 

Development; and 

iv. a statement on how the General Development Plan adheres to the purpose of the Design District. 

 

 






	Agenda
	File 405; Apln 1629
	July 20, 2016 Minutes
	August 17, 2016 Minutes
	EMB Memo
	Design Review Memo
	Mixed Residential Memo
	Design District Memo
	Collinsville Streetscape Minor Modifications

